CLERK, SUPREME COURT

In The Supreme Court of Florida - And Deputy Clork

CASE NO. 87,720

## **REGINALD DONALD GAINER,**

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## PETITIONER'S MERIT BRIEF

NANCY A. DANIELS Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit

FRED PARKER BINGHAM II Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0869058

Leon County Courthouse Suite 401 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

April 22, 1996

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## **CASE NO. 87,720**

## **REGINALD DONALD GAINER,**

Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

#### 1. <u>Introduction</u>

Ŧ

Y

The First District Court certified the following question to this Court regarding the application of this Court's decision in *Coney v. State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995):

DOES THE DECISION IN <u>CONEY</u> APPLY TO "PIPELINE CASES," THAT IS, THOSE OF SIMILARLY SITUATED DEFENDANTS WHOSE CASES WERE PENDING ON DIRECT REVIEW OR NOT YET FINAL DURING THE TIME <u>CONEY</u> WAS UNDER CONSIDERATION BUT PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE OPINION?

#### 1. <u>History of Proceedings</u>

For general background, this case involved a trial in the newest case, No. 94-1315, and sentencing as the result of violation of probation in four prior cases, Nos. 88-1029, 90-713, 90-2878 and 90-2916.

(a) <u>Case No. 94-1315</u>

Petitioner was arrested on July 6, 1994, for sale of cocaine, possession of cocaine and possession of a police scanner in a vehicle [R. 65-66].

On August 26, 1994, the public defender filed a certification of conflict of interest and moved for the appointment of separate counsel [R. 111]. See also R. 118. The court then appointed Jeffrey Whitton to represent Mr. Gainer as to all pending cases [R. 112, 119-120].

On September 14, 1994, Mr. Gainer was charged by Information as a principal in the sale of a controlled substance (cocaine) and with possession of cocaine for the offenses alleged to have occurred on July 6, 1994 [R. 122].

Following a jury trial, he was convicted of both offenses as charged [R. 125-126].

# (b) <u>The Prior History of Case Nos. 88-1029, 90-2916, 90-2878</u> and 90-713<sup>1</sup>

τ

On July 28, 1989, Mr. Gainer entered a plea of no contest to a charge of sale of cocaine, a second-degree felony, in Case No. 88-1029. He was sentenced to 30 months DOC followed by 12 years of probation. On May 6, 1991, he was found to have violated probation and was sentenced to DOC for 7 years, to be followed by three years probation in the 1988 case following entry of his pleas resulting in adjudications of guilt the three 1990 cases [See R. 89].<sup>2</sup> Mr. Gainer was also sentenced in the same proceedings on the 1990 cases.

Those sentences were appealed, *Gainer v. State*, 590 So. 2d 101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). The appeal court found that the scoring of the scoresheet was error due to multiplication of legal constraint points by the number of the new offenses. This Court affirmed, but without prejudice to Gainer moving to withdraw the pleas or to file a 3.850 motion.

(c) The New Pleas and Sentences in Case Nos. 88-1029, 90-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Identified hereafter as the 1988 case and 1990 cases respectively

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The sentencing guidelines scoresheet for May 6, 1991, is found at SR 303. It was used in the simultaneous sentencing in Case No. 87-880, 88-1029, 90-713, 90-1878 and 90-2916, with 90-2878 offenses scored as the primary offenses. This scoresheet was the one addressed on appeal. It scores "legal constraint" at 14 points <u>multiplied by the number of primary and additional offenses pending sentencing as new offenses</u>. It resulted in a recommended range of 5 1/2 - 7 years with a permitted range of 4 1/2 to 9 years [R. 303].

That scoresheet, without the erroneous multiplication of the "legal constraint" points, would have resulted in a recommended range of 3 1/2 to 4 1/2 years, with a permitted range of 2  $\frac{1}{2}$  to 5 $\frac{1}{2}$  years.

#### 2916, 90-2878 and 90-713 in December 1991

ĩ

On December 20, 1991, Mr. Gainer was permitted to withdraw his pleas in each of these cases, including the 1988 case. He entered new pleas of nolo contendere. He was adjudicated guilty in each of the four cases and was then sentenced under a corrected sentencing guidelines scoresheet [R. 1]. He was sentenced to 5 1/2 years, followed by 3 years of probation, with credit for 30 months plus 228 days in Case No. 88-1029 after being adjudicated guilty based upon entry of his new plea of nolo contendere [R. 2-6].

In Case No. 90-2916, on a new plea of nolo contendere, Mr. Gainer was adjudicated guilty of the sale of a controlled substance and sentenced to 5 1/2 years followed by 3 years probation [R. 16-20]. On new pleas, Mr. Gainer was also adjudicated guilty and identical concurrent sentences of 5 1/2 years with 3 years probation were simultaneously imposed in Case No. 90-2878 [R. 30-34], and Case 90-713 [R. 47-51]. All sentences imposed were to run concurrent with the sentence in 88-1029 and with each other.

#### (d) <u>The 1994 Sentencing (or Resentencing) in All Cases</u>

On December 12, 1994, following a jury trial in Case No. 94-1315, the trial court determined that Mr. Gainer was a habitual felony offender based upon judgments of convictions entered in the following cases: Sale or delivery of a controlled substance, Case No. 88-1029, May 6, 1991; Possession of controlled substance and battery on a law enforcement officer, Case No. 87-880, December 20, 1991; Possession of controlled substance with intent to distribute, Case No. 90-713, December 20, 1991; Sale of controlled substance, Case No. 90-2878, December 20, 1991; and Sale of a controlled substance, Case No. 90-2916, December 20, 1991 [T. 291].

r

ï

Case Nos. 88-1029, 90-713, 90-2878, and 90-2916 were also pending before the court for sentencing on probation violations due to the convictions on new offenses in Case No. 94-1315. An affidavit of violation of probation had been filed in each of these earlier cases on July 27, 1994 [R. 84]. On December 12, 1994, following Mr. Gainer's convictions of new offenses in Case No. 94-1315, Mr. Gainer was resentenced under the guidelines<sup>3</sup> in the 1988 and 1990 cases upon revocation of probation, to 9 years incarceration, consecutive to the sentence in Case No. 94-1315, but concurrent with each of the sentences as to the older cases [R. 181-185; 26-29; 42-46; 61-64, respective-ly].<sup>4</sup> The order of revocation of probation recites that revocation was predicated upon Mr. Gainer's convictions in Case No. 94-1315. The order of revocation also recites that Mr. Gainer pled nolo contendere to the allegations of violations of probation in the earlier cases. This order was rendered on December 19, 1994. It is noted as "nunc pro tunc; 12/12/94." [R. 189].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>At this sentencing, the court used a previously scored guidelines sentencing scoresheet which has as its primary offense Case No. 90-2878 [T. 294; R. 14-15]. The scoresheet was originally filed May 6, 1991 [R. 14], but had been corrected as to the point total.

This corrected scoresheet shows 143 points in category 7. This scoresheet, however, recorded an erroneous recommended range of 5 1/2 - 7 years with a permitted range of 4 1/2 - 9 years [R. 14]. One hundred forty-three (143) points should have resulted in a recommended range of  $3\frac{1}{2}$  -  $4\frac{1}{2}$  years with a permitted range of  $2\frac{1}{2}$  -  $5\frac{1}{2}$  years, the fourth cell of category seven. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(g).

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ In 88-1029, he was credited with 5 1/2 years plus 160 days county jail time. In the 90-713, 90-2878 and 90-2916, he was credited with 160 days plus unforfeited DOC gain time.

Mr. Gainer was sentenced as a habitual felony offender to five (5) years on each count in Case No. 94-1315, the counts to run concurrent with each other, and consecutive to the sentences imposed in the 1988 and 1990 cases, with credit for 160 days [T. 298].

On January 4, 1995, Mr. Gainer filed a separate Notice of Appeal in each case [R. 192-196].

## 2. Statement of the Facts - Case No. 94-1315

In a letter Judge Sirmons dated on or about October 13, 1994, petitioner advised the court that he was afraid of Mr. Whitton. He stated that Whitton had refused to investigate his witnesses and had refused to see him while he was being held in custody pending trial [R. 135-136]. Mr. Whitton then moved to withdraw as counsel [R. 138-139]. At a hearing on the matter on October 20th, Whitton indicated that while he would continue to represent Mr. Gainer if the court required him to, he "would just as soon not." [T. 220]. Mr. Gainer indicated that he did not want to represent himself and that he needed an attorney [T. 223]. Gainer stated that he did not want counsel whom he could not contact or talk to regarding his witnesses [T. 224; 230]. Gainer stated he needed to give his attorney his witnesses [T. 225]. Gainer stated that he had called Whitton several times, and had asked his mother to call Whitton, but he had not given Whitton the names of any witnesses because he had not been able to get together with Whitton and to talk to Whitton about witnesses [T. 227; 230]. Whitton stated that Gainer had been given every piece of paper concerning the investigation as the result of discovery through the "rocket docket." At pretrial,

Whitton spoke to Gainer and Gainer did not identify any witnesses to investigate [T. 225].

ë

The court told Gainer that if he had witnesses to provide to counsel, he could communicate that to Whitton by mail, but found no basis to relieve Whitton as counsel [T. 230-231; 232].

On November 8, 1994, following jury selection, Mr. Whitton again advised the court that Gainer had declined to come into the courtroom from the annex, but Gainer was brought by force and had been persuaded to come across from the jail to the courthouse, but Gainer refused to dress out and was not dressed for court in civilian attire [T. 4].

Mr. Gainer stated that he had not received the depositions (transcripts) in this case, and that he was not getting adequate representation. He stated he needed a disclosure of the discovery depositions before going into trial; he wanted to read them. He stated he did not know what was going on, that he had not seen the transcripts, and still had not received the FDLE lab results [T. 12-13; 22].<sup>5</sup> Whitton stated that Gainer had been furnished the discovery, he had been given a memorandum from FDLE identifying the reports and he had given Gainer a written synopsis of the witnesses' testimony in depositions [T. 13-14]. Whitton had not had the depositions transcribed because of the cost, as that was policy [T. 21]. Gainer responded he wanted the evidence disclosed to him and had asked for the deposition transcripts [T.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Mr. Gainer had also complained about not receiving the FDLE lab results at the previous hearing. Counsel had then represented that he had not yet received them.

15; 21]. The court concluded that no ineffective assistance claim had been shown [T. 18]. The court stated it was the practice of that circuit not to transcribe depositions and that it was not necessary to do so [T. 22]. Gainer then agreed to dress out in civilian clothes for the trial, but was still protesting the trial because information had not been disclosed to him by counsel [T. 25].

## **Challenging of the Jury**

Ŧ

ĩ

The exercise of challenges to jurors was done at an unreported side bar [T. 276]. That proceeding has been reconstructed. During selection of the jury, and upon conclusion of voir dire of the panel, defense counsel conferred with Mr. Gainer concerning the exercise of peremptory challenges. Mr. Gainer was physically present in the courtroom and located at counsel table. Peremptory challenges were exercised during a "side bar" conference at which Mr. Gainer was not physically present. He was, throughout that time, in the courtroom, seated at the counsel table. Following the exercise of peremptory challenges, counsel returned to the counsel table and defense counsel stated that the jury was acceptable. The defendant made no comment. The defendant did not personally, or through counsel, object to this procedure. The trial court did not specifically address this procedure with Mr. Gainer nor was Mr. Gainer asked whether he desired to be present at the side bar or whether he waived his presence at the side bar [SR. 304-305, Settled and Approved Statement of Proceedings; SR. 306, Order Settling and Approving Statement].

### The Evidence Adduced During Trial in Case No. 94-1315

Douglas Pierce, a Panama City police officer, was working undercover on July

6th making purchases of narcotics [T. 35]]. He had a truck which had been wired with a transmitter so other members of the team could hear what was going on. They had currency with the serial numbers recorded [T. 36].

Pierce contacted a female at the Midnight Lounge who came up to his vehicle. He asked her for a "twenty," a \$20 rock of crack cocaine [T. 37]. She appeared high at the time [T. 65]. She said, "Wait a minute," and went over toward the 6-10 Jiffy store on the corner, talked to a guy and came back [T. 37-38]. There was no exchange made between the woman and the man that Pierce saw [T. 38]. She said she could not get any drugs and they would have to go to the Safari Lounge. She got into Pierce's truck. [T. 38].

As they proceeded, Pierce saw an older model Cadillac coming. The woman waved and said to stop the truck. Pierce stopped. The woman walked over to the Cadillac, which had stopped alongside the truck [T. 39-40]. She went to the driver's side of the Cadillac, talked to the driver, then came around and got into the passenger's side of the Cadillac [T. 63]. The door of the Cadillac was pulled to, but not closed, with the window open [T. 63]. Pierce had now given the woman a recorded \$20 bill [T. 40].

Pierce could not hear the conversation, but he said he saw the driver hold out crack cocaine in his hand. The woman picked out one and gave him the \$20 bill [T. 40-41]. Pierce said he could see what was in the man's hand, 12 or 13 rocks [T. 41]. The woman then got out of the car, returned to the side of Pierce's vehicle, and handed him a rock through the driver's side window. The woman then walked away [T. 41]. The driver of the Cadillac started driving north on McArthur Avenue [T. 42].

8

Pierce gave a description of the car, the tag number and direction of travel over his wire, and began following the Cadillac. He saw Sgt. Pitts and the others in an unmarked car pull in behind the Cadillac and stopped the vehicle [T. 43]. Pierce circled the block. When he got back to the location, the other officers had started a search of the vehicle [T. 44]. Recovered was the \$20 bill. They also found an RF detector that picks up transmitters. Mr. Gainer was arrested at the scene [T. 45]. Only one piece of crack was found in the seat of the car [T. 46]. The driver had had no contact with any other persons prior to being stopped [T. 43].

At the station, Pierce took swabs of Gainer's hands and mouth. Pierce testified he does not always get positive results from the swabs [T. 47]. Pierce identified Exhibit 1 as the rock he purchased from Gainer [T. 50]. Exhibit 2 was the piece of rock cocaine Officer Clarkson turned over to him, which Clarkson found in the seat of the car [T. 51]. Pierce identified swabs used to swab Gainer's hands and mouth (Exhibits 3 and 4 respectively). [T. 51-51]????. Exhibit 5 was identified as a scanner of police frequencies, including Panama City Beach [T. 53]. Exhibit 6 was identified as an RF detector which is used to pick up a body wire [T. 54]. Exhibit 7 was a copy of a \$20 bill recovered from Gainer's vehicle [T. 56]. The original \$20 bill, Pierce said, had been put back "in service." [T. 56]. Pierce identified Mr. Gainer in court as the driver of the vehicle [T. 61].

Pierce did not search Porter at any time before the incident [T. 62]. Pierce said he ultimately learned that the woman was Melanie Porter, and she was also arrested and charged [T. 61]. After Gainer was arrested, Pierce located Porter, took her down to the station and she agreed to cooperate with him. Pierce released her and she failed to cooperate; he then re-arrested her.

ĩ

Randy Squire, a narcotics investigator, stated he found a scanner under the front seat on the driver's side [. 67]. It was off [T. 69]. Robert Clarkson, a police officer, found a small crack rock in the foam of the driver's seat where the seat cover had split [T. 71, 72]. The rock, which since had gotten crumbled, was originally about the size of the tip of a roller-ball pen [T. 73]. At the station Clarkson searched Mr. Gainer and found the RF detector, which the officer thought at first was a pager [T. 71]. Clarkson did a field test on the rock recovered from the car seat and got a positive reaction [T. 72]. Sgt. Pitts recovered a \$20 bill from the driver's side floorboard of the Cadillac [T. 76].

Donald Walker, an analyst from FDLE, was qualified as an expert in the analysis of narcotics [T. 79-80]. He determined that Exhibits 1 and 2 contained cocaine [T. 80-81]. He also tested Exhibits 3 and 4 (swabs) [T. 80]. Exhibit 3 contained no narcotics. Exhibit 4 (mouth swab) contained cocaine [T. 81].

The defense moved for a directed verdict of acquittal as to Count II [T. 85], arguing that no evidence established that the car was Mr. Gainer's or someone else's car or how long Gainer had had the car; also, that the rock was minuscule and found buried in and surrounded by the foam rubber of the seat and the evidence did not show knowledge of its presence although control of the car had been shown [T. 86-87].

As to Count I, defense counsel argued that the evidence showed that Porter had not been searched and the officer did not know whether she had the cocaine on her at the time [T. 88]. The court reserved ruling as to Count II [T. 90].

F

Counsel filed a request for an additional instruction on constructive possession [T. 92]. The court denied the requested instruction because the court considered the standard instructions were sufficient [T. 94]. Counsel also requested a lesser of simple possession as to Count I, which was given [T. 95; 116-117].

After fourteen minutes of deliberation, the jury found Mr. Gainer guilty of both offenses as charged [T. 126].

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

**ISSUE I** — This is the issue which is before this Court as a certified question. Petitioner was not present at the site of selection when the jury was chosen and therefore was unable to participate in the selection of his jury. Petitioner's case is one of the so-called "pipeline cases," falling between the time of Coney's trial, yet before the decision was rendered in *Coney v State*, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

Equal protection under the law, as well as decisions of this and other courts, demands that Petitioner be granted the same relief as was granted Coney. This is true whether *Coney* is considered to be "new law" or not. At the very least, the law which preceded *Coney*, and upon which *Coney* was decided, mandates that Petitioner be granted the same relief.

In *Coney*, the state conceded that Coney's absence during for-cause challenging of the jury was error under *Francis v. State*, but the error was held harmless. Here, the state is estopped from arguing that what occurred here — the same factual scenario — is not error.

Error has occurred, and it is not harmless, whether peremptory challenges were made or not. If they were made, they may not have been the ones Petitioner wanted. If they were not made, he may have wanted them to have been — including possible back-strikes. This Court has no way to access the damage done to the Petitioner.

There is error, it is harmful, and as it is impossible to access the consequences, the harmful error is prejudicial. Thus, the answer to the certified question must be in the affirmative, and Petitioner should be granted a new trial. **ISSUE II** — The trial court committed reversible error when it failed to conduct a full and adequate *Nelson* inquiry. After concluding that counsel had not rendered ineffective assistance, the court, as it is required to do, failed to advise petitioner that no substitute counsel would be appointed if he moved to have counsel discharged, and failed to advise petitioner that he had the right to represent himself. Due to his deep dissatisfaction with counsel, petitioner might have opted to discharge counsel and represent himself had he been properly advised.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### <u>ISSUE I</u>

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