ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



JUN 5 1996

By Criter Decuty Clark

REGINALD DONALD GAINER,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87,720

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

EDWARD C. HILL, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

The district court's perception that an issue remains to be resolved is erroneous. Subsequent to the <u>Smith</u> decision, this Court has answered the question of how decisions of this Court are to be applied by the courts of this state. The issue was specifically addressed in <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), where this Court addressed the proper reading of <u>Smith</u> and

held that <u>Smith</u> means that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise. The issue was discussed in <u>Domberg v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1995) a case dealing with retroactivity. In <u>Domberg</u>, this Court referred to <u>Smith</u> in the following way:

Smith v. State, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), limited by Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 n.4 (Fla. 1994) (Smith read to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise), cert. denied ____ U.S. ___, 115 S.Ct. 1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (1995), State v. Jones, 485 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1986)

Domberg at 287

Thus, the issue of how Smith is to be read has been decided.

Since the issue presented by the certified question has been put to rest by recent decisions of this Court, it cannot be said that the certified question is one of any public importance.

Therefore, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction to answer the already decided question presented by this case.

See Stein.

There is a second reason why this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction in this case. As part of its reason to certify the issue, the district court noted that there were

numerous <u>Coney</u>-type cases in the pipeline. This statement misapplies the definition of a pipeline case entitled to obtain the benefit from a new decision. A pipeline case is one in which the issue is properly preserved in an appeal which is not final at the time the change in law occurs. In order to be a pipeline case, an appellant must establish that he is similarly situated and his issue is properly preserved. This was made clear by this Court's holding in <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1995). There this Court held that issues relating to a defendant's presence during jury voir dire (like other jury voir dire issues) must be preserved in the trial court by contemporaneous objection. The <u>Gibson</u> case presented this Court on appeal with the following issue:

Gibson claims error in two respects. First, he argues that the trial court violated his right to be present with counsel during the challenging of jurors by conducting the challenges in a bench conference. Second, he argues that the trial court violated his right to the assistance of counsel by denying defense counsel's request to consult with Gibson before exercising peremptory challenges.

This Court specifically held that:

In <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982), we said that, "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." In this case, we find that Gibson's lawyer did not raise the issue that is now being asserted on

appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client over which jurors to exclude and to admit, he did not convey this to the trial court. On the record, he asked for an afternoon recess for the general purpose of meeting with his client. Further, there is no indication in this record that Gibson was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his counsel concerning the exercise of juror challenges. On this record, no objection to the court's procedure was ever made. In short, Gibson has demonstrated neither error nor prejudice on the record before this Court. Cf. Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995)

Gibson at 290-291

Thus, Gibson's attempt to raise for the first time on appeal a Coney issue was rejected because it was not properly preserved.

This rule of law operates independently of Coney and applies even to cases where the trial takes place after Coney issued.

Likewise, petitioner did not object in the trial court and his case is indistinguishable from Gibson. Indeed, the record reflects that petitioner and counsel conferred regarding the exercise of peremptory challenges. (SR 304)

This Court should discourage the promiscuous certification of irrelevant questions by declining to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and by instructing the district courts that unpreserved claims cannot be the basis for "an issue of great public importance." Misapplication of the designation "this is an issue of great public importance" when the issue certified

could not provide the defendant with relief is all too common.

In fact, this "Coney" issue has been repeatedly certified by the lower tribunal in cases which do not contain any objection to the trial court procedure. See Branch v. State, no 87,717, Bell v. State, No. 87,716, Lett v. State, No. 87,541, Lee v. State, No. 87,715, Horn v. State, No. 87,789 Continuation of this practice should be discouraged.

Merits

This Court, if it exercises discretionary review, should answer the certified question in the negative.

This Court specifically answered the question of how its decisions are to be applied in, e.g., <u>Wuornos v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1994), where this Court addressed the proper reading of <u>Smith</u> and held that <u>Smith</u> means that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases <u>unless</u> this Court says otherwise. The Court noted that it had repeatedly held that it had the authority to make new rules prospective and cited a series of cases in which it had dictated that the new rule was to be prospective only.

The issue was again addressed in <u>Domberg v. State</u>, 661 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1995) a case dealing with retroactivity. In <u>Domberg</u>, this Court referred to <u>Smith</u> in the following way:

Smith v. State, 598 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1992), limited by Wuornos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1008 n.4 (Fla. 1994) (Smith read to mean that new points of law established by this Court shall be deemed retrospective with respect to all non-final cases unless this Court says otherwise), cert. denied ___ U.S. ___, 115 S.Ct. 1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (1995), State v. Jones, 485 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1986)

Domberg at 287

Petitioner's arguments are based on a fundamental misunderstanding of the nature and scope of this Court's authority. Unlike the United States Supreme Court, this Court has the authority to promulgate procedural rules and modify them when necessary. For obvious reasons, changes to procedural rules are almost always prospective. Tucker v. State, 357 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1978) Thus, there will be many occasions for this Court's rulings to be prospective only. Adopting a rule akin to the United States Supreme Court rule in Griffin v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314 (1987) would be inappropriate given this Court's rulemaking authority and would unduly restrict the Courts ability to modify the rules.

This approach is also appropriate given the subject of this litigation. Like the decision in R.J.A v. Foster, 603 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1992) where the Court found the procedural rule superseded the statutory juvenile speedy trial provision, rule 3.180 superseded the provisions of § 914.01 Fla. Statutes. see Thomas v. State, 65 So.2d 866, 868(Fla. 1953) Thus, the rule is a procedural mechanism to implement a substantive right.

It must also be recognized that the rights provided in the rule and the rights mandated by the constitution are not synonymous. In <u>Shriner v. State</u>, 452 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1984) this Court held that it was not fundamental error when a defendant was absent from bench conferences because he was present in the courtroom. Likewise, in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 569 So.2d 1234, (Fla. 1990), this Court found <u>no error</u> when Jones was not at the sidebar during selection of the jury even though the record did not reflect an affirmative waiver.

Thus, the Coney interpretation of the term present is not constitutionally mandated but a modification of a rule of procedure setting out the manner in which the constitutional right should be implemented. See R.J.A.

Reading the rule in this fashion is in accord with federal practice. The United States law regarding this issue was

summarized in <u>United States v. McCoy</u>, 8 F.3d 495, 496 (7th Cir. 1993):

- [2] A defendant's right to be present at trial derives from several sources. First, the defendant has a sixth amendment right to confront witnesses or evidence against him. See United States v. Gagnon, 470 U.S. 522, 526, 105 S.Ct. 1482, 1484, 84 L.Ed.2d 486 (1985) (per curiam); Verdin v. O'Leary, 972 F.2d 1467, 1481 (7th Cir.1992); United States v. Shukitis, 877 F.2d 1322, 1329 (7th Cir.1989). That right is not implicated here, because no witness or evidence against McCoy was presented at any of the conferences. See Verdin, 972 F.2d at 1481-82.
- [3] The defendant also has a due process right to be present " 'whenever his presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fulness of his opportunity to defend against the charge. ' " Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 526, 105 S.Ct. at 1484 (quoting Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105-06, 54 S.Ct. 330, 332, 78 L.Ed. 674 (1934)). But " 'the presence of a defendant is a condition of due process to the extent that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his absence, and to that extent only.' " Id. (quoting Snyder, 291 U.S. at 107-08, 54 S.Ct. at 333); see also Verdin, 972 F.2d at 1481-82; United States v. Moore, 936 F.2d 1508, 1523 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, --- U.S. ----, 112 S.Ct. 607, 116 L.Ed.2d 630 (1991); Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1329-30. That determination is made in light of the record as a whole. Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 526-27, 105 S.Ct. at 1484.

In Gagnon, the Supreme Court found that defendants' due process rights were not violated when they were excluded from an in camera conference between the judge, defense counsel and a juror regarding the juror's possible bias. The Court based its holding on the fact that the defendants "could have done nothing had they been at the conference, nor would they have gained anything by attending." Id. at 527, 105 S.Ct. at 1485. In Shukitis, we similarly held that a

defendant's due process rights were not implicated when he was excluded from an in camera conference that addressed a separation of witnesses order. We reasoned that the absence did not affect the court's ability to decide the issue or otherwise diminish Shukitis' ability to defend against the charges, and that Shukitis' interests were adequately protected by his counsel's presence at the conference. 877 F.2d at 1330. See also Moore, 936 F.2d at 1523.

As in Gagnon and Shukitis, McCoy's absence from the conferences did not detract from his defense or in any other way affect the fundamental fairness of his trial. Indeed, McCoy seems to have conceded this point, having offered no argument to the contrary. Like Shukitis, McCoy's interests were sufficiently protected by his counsel's presence at the conferences. McCoy therefore had no due process right to attend.

[4] Finally, Fed.R.Crim.P. 43 entitles defendants to be present "at every stage of the trial including the impaneling of the jury...." (FN1) This right is broader than the constitutional right (Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1330), but is waived if the defendant does not assert it. Reversing the Ninth Circuit in Gagnon, the Supreme Court explained:

We disagree with the Court of Appeals that failure to object is irrelevant to whether a defendant had voluntarily absented himself under Rule 43 from an in camera conference of which he is aware. The district court need not get an express "on the record" waiver from the defendant for every trial conference which a defendant may have a right to attend.... A defendant knowing of such a discussion must assert whatever right he may have under Rule 43 to be present.

470 U.S. at 528, 105 S.Ct. at 1485; cf. Taylor v. United States, 414 U.S. 17, 18-20, 94 S.Ct. 194, 195-96, 38 L.Ed.2d 174 (1973) (per curiam). A defendant may not assert a Rule 43 right for the first time on appeal. Gagnon, 470 U.S. at 529, 105 S.Ct. at 1485; Shukitis, 877 F.2d at 1330. Because McCoy did

not invoke Rule 43 either during trial or in a post-trial motion, he has waived any right under that rule. (FN2)

Because of the availability of consultation between a lawyer and his client present for trial, there is no due process violation when a defendant is not present at the bench during a sidebar for peremptory challenges. See, McCoy, United States v. Gayles, 1 F.3d 735 (8th Cir. 1993), United States v. Moore, 936 F.2d 1508, 1523 (7th Cir. 1991), United States v. Bascaro, 742 F.2d 1335 (11th Cir. 1984) Therefore, the only legitimate conclusion is that the Coney decision was not one of constitutional magnitude.

In <u>United States v. Gagnon</u>, 470 U.S. 522, 526-530 (1985)

the Supreme Court indicated that the right of the defendant to be present under Rule 43 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (similar to our rule) is broader than the constitutionally based right to be present. In <u>Gagnon</u>, the Court held that such claims must be preserved at trial and that waiver of the benefits of the Rule 43 right to be present may be inferred by a defendant's failure to assert the right at trial. Thus, the United States Supreme Court recognizes that the Rule 43 right must be asserted

at trial by the defendant; our rule should follow the federal rule.

Finally, to state the problem and analysis in a slightly different form. The district court and the petitioner fail to distinguish between the Coney decision and the prospective rule announced in that decision. Coney is applicable to all pipeline cases, including the one at hand. However, Coney by its terms plainly announces that the new procedural rule established therein is only applicable to trials which occur after the announcement of the new rule. By its terms it does not provide relief to any appellant/petitioner whose trial occurred before the Coney decision became final. Not only is it uncontroverted that the issue was not preserved below, it is also uncontroverted that the trial occurred before the issuance of Coney. The district court is simply misapprehending the plain language of Coney in perceiving a conflict with Smith. None exists.

Summary

The question certified by the district court has already been answered and does not rise to the level of a question of great public importance. Thus, discretionary review should be denied. The Court should also decline review because the petitioner is not a member of the pipeline class who could benefit from an

affirmative answer to the certified question, as he did not raise the issue at trial. <u>Gibson</u>

Finally, the state urges that if this Court answers the question, that it answer the question in the negative. The question should be answered in the negative because the issue has been decided, because this Court has the authority to make its decisions prospective, and because modifications of rules of procedure are appropriately prospective only.

ISSUE II

DID THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCT AN ADEQUATE INQUIRY INTO PETITIONER'S COMPLAINTS ABOUT HIS LAWYER? (Restated)

Petitioner argues that the trial court failed to conduct a proper inquiry into his complaints about his lawyer and that the District Court misapplied the law. Petitioner is wrong and this Court should reject his arguments.

Jurisdiction

Pursuant to Article V § 3(b)(4) Florida Constitution this

Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal

that passes upon a question certified by it to be one of great

public importance." When the Court obtains jurisdiction over a

case, it obtains jurisdiction over all issues in the case. The

District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District has certified

a question, therefore, this Court has jurisdiction.

Exercise of Jurisdiction

While this Court has jurisdiction to answer this question, this Court has the discretion to decide whether it should exercise its jurisdiction and hear the case. State v. Burgess, 326 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1976), Stein v. Darby, 134 So.2d 232 (Fla. 1961) The state urges this Court to exercise its discretion and

decline to review this case. <u>Coffin v. State</u>, 374 So.2d 504, 508 (Fla. 1979)

This Court should decline review of this issue because the lower tribunal's decision was a routine application of settled principles to the facts of the case. This issue contains no legal issue warranting this Court's review.

Merits

When a defendant alleges that his counsel is incompetent and requests that counsel be discharged, the trial court must conduct an inquiry:

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